No. S271877

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

DAJAH BROWN,

Defendant and Appellant.

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H048462 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case Nos. AP002184, C1646865 The Honorable Cynthia C. Lie, Judge

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether the superior court can deny a continuance for the failure to establish good cause pursuant to Penal Code section 1050 if such a denial will causally result in dismissal of a criminal charge.

INTRODUCTION

Penal Code section 1050 contains several provisions governing how a party may request, and under what circumstances a court may grant, a continuance of a criminal proceeding. Penal Code section 1050.5 authorizes certain sanctions for noncompliance with some of those provisions, particularly those requiring advance written notice.

Longstanding case law limits the trial court's authority to deny a motion to continue a criminal trial if the denial would result in a dismissal of the case prior to the speedy trial limitations in Penal Code section 1382. In 2003, the Legislature amended Penal Code section 1050 to codify this principle, providing that the requirements of section 1050, including the good cause requirement, are directory only. *People v. Ferrer* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 873, 886, applied this principle to limit the court's authority to deny a continuance of a hearing on a motion to suppress evidence if it is "reasonably foreseeable that denial of the prosecutor's request for a continuance would result in dismissal of the case."

In this case, the prosecutor moved to continue, without good cause, a hearing on a motion to suppress evidence. The trial court, relying on *Ferrer* and the prosecutor's representation that

the People would not be able to proceed without the evidence that appellant sought to suppress, granted the motion to continue, denied suppression, and found appellant guilty. The Court of Appeal reversed, concluding that *Ferrer* was wrongly decided and holding that a trial court has the authority to deny a prosecutor's requested continuance for lack of good cause even if the denial will likely result in dismissal of the matter for lack of evidence.

This Court should reject the Court of Appeal's holding and adopt *Ferrer*'s, as to do otherwise would conflict with established case law limiting a trial court's authority to deny a continuance in a criminal case where such a denial would result in a dismissal of the charges prior to the statutory time limitations in section 1382. However, this Court should also clarify that *Ferrer*'s rule does not require a speculative determination by the trial court as to the foreseeability of a dismissal. The rule should require an express statement by the prosecutor that a denial of a continuance and the suppression of the evidence will result in an inability to proceed to trial.¹

In disagreeing with *Ferrer*, the Court of Appeal's analysis ignored the well-settled rule that a dismissal after a denial of a continuance is not in the in the "furtherance of justice." (Pen. Code, § 1385.) It also confused the statutory provisions limiting the court's authority to dismiss a case as a remedy for the failure to comply with the good cause requirements of Penal Code section

¹ This clarification is a refinement of the position the People advanced in the Court of Appeal.

1050 with the provisions providing an exception to those good cause requirements. Finally, the court's practical concerns which the court believed supported rejecting the *Ferrer* rule overlooked the constitutional and statutory speedy trial provisions that guide the trial court's discretion in determining the length of a requested continuance and protect the court's ability to manage its own trial calendar.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2016, the Santa Clara County District Attorney charged appellant with misdemeanor loitering with intent to commit prostitution (Pen. Code, § 653.22, subd. (a)). (CT 21.)² The charges were based on observations made by San Jose Police Officer Yasin as well as incriminating statements made by appellant to Officer Yasin. (CT 22.) On January 19, 2017, appellant filed a motion to suppress her statements as the fruit of an unlawful detention, pursuant to section 1538.5. (CT 16.)

On February 17, 2017, the date set for hearing the motion, the People orally moved for a continuance. (2/17/17 RT 4.) The prosecutor explained that Officer Yasin was under subpoena, but during the lunch recess, Officer Yasin had informed the prosecutor that he was the only gang unit officer available to interview a percipient witness to a shooting and the interview was scheduled at the same time as the hearing. (2/17/17 RT 4-5.) The prosecutor told Officer Yasin to go to the interview and that

² All further references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise noted.

he would explain to the court the reason for Officer Yasin's absence. (2/17/17 RT 4-5.) Appellant objected to the continuance. (2/17/17 RT 5.)

The trial court denied the motion to continue because there was no good cause for a continuance. $(2/17/17 \text{ RT } 6, 8.)^3$ Because the prosecution was unable to proceed with the hearing without Officer Yasin's testimony, the court granted appellant's motion to suppress her statements. (2/17/17 RT 11-12.)

The prosecutor stated that the People needed additional time to determine whether they would be able to proceed without the suppressed evidence. (2/17/17 RT 12.) Appellant withdrew her previously entered time waiver, thereby requiring the trial to begin by March 20, 2017. (2/17/17 RT 12-13.) The court set jury trial for March 6, 2017. (2/17/17 RT 13.)

On March 2, 2017, relying on *People v. Ferrer*, *supra*, 184 Cal.App.4th 873, the People moved to reconsider the rulings on the motions to continue and to suppress. (CT 32.) The prosecutor represented that the People would be unable to proceed to trial without the suppressed evidence. (3/2/17 RT 302-304.) The trial court vacated its previous rulings and set the suppression hearing for March 17 and trial for March 20. (CT 45.)

On March 17, after hearing the testimony of Officer Yasin and appellant, the court denied appellant's motion to suppress.

 $^{^3}$ The court did not deny the motion to continue based on the lack of written notice. (See § 1050, subd. (b).)

(CT 57; 3/17/17 RT 59.) On March 20, 2017, appellant entered a "slow plea" pursuant to *Bunnell v. Superior Court* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 592. (CT 58.) The court found appellant guilty, suspended imposition of sentence, and placed appellant on probation for three years. (CT 58.)

Applying *Ferrer*, the appellate division affirmed the judgment. (Opn. 5) In a concurring opinion, Judge Saban urged the Court of Appeal to reconsider and disagree with *Ferrer*. (Opn. 6.) The Court of Appeal granted appellant's petition to transfer pursuant to California Rules of Court, rule 8.1006.

The Court of Appeal announced that it would "decline to follow *Ferrer*." (Opn. 2.) The court disagreed with *Ferrer*'s "construction of sections 1050 and 1050.5" and held that "if the trial court finds that the request for a continuance of a motion to suppress lacks good cause, the court has the authority to deny the requested continuance for lack of good cause under section 1050, subdivision (e), even if this decision may foreseeably result in a dismissal of the matter for lack of evidence." (Opn. 9, 20.) Based on the parties' agreement that the admission of the challenged evidence at the *Bunnell* trial was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the court reversed the judgment, ordered the trial court to reinstate its orders denying the prosecution's request for a continuance and granting the motion to suppress, and remanded for further proceedings, including possible retrial. (Oct. 12, 2021, order modifying opn.)

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT HAS NO AUTHORITY TO DENY A CONTINUANCE IF DOING SO WILL CAUSALLY RESULT IN DISMISSAL OF A CRIMINAL CHARGE

Well-settled case and statutory law limits the trial court's authority to deny a continuance if the denial will causally result in a dismissal of the charges. The Court of Appeal's rejection of this legal principle does not survive close scrutiny, and its judgment should be reversed.

A. Legal background

The Court of Appeal's holding focused solely on the rule announced in *Ferrer* without considering the legal underpinnings of its rule, which dated back to this Court's opinion in *Malengo v*. *Municipal Court* (1961) 56 Cal.2d 813. A discussion of the relevant case and statutory law is useful to properly understand the Court of Appeal's erroneous reasoning.

1. Relevant statutory provisions

The Legislature recognized that "[t]he welfare of the people of the State of California requires that all proceedings in criminal cases shall be set for trial and heard and determined at the earliest possible time." (§ 1050, subd. (a).) To that end, section 1050 provides that continuances in a criminal case must be requested in writing with two days' notice (§ 1050, subd. (b)) and may be granted only upon a showing of good cause (§ 1050, subd. (e)). Notwithstanding the notice requirements of section 1050, subdivision (b), "a party may make a motion for a continuance without complying with the requirements of that subdivision. However, unless the moving party shows good cause for the failure to comply with those requirements, the court may impose

sanctions as provided in Section 1050.5." (§ 1050, subd. (c).) Section 1050.5 authorizes either or both a fine or a report to a disciplinary committee (§ 1050.5, subd. (a)) "in addition to any other authority or power available to the court, except that the court or magistrate shall not dismiss the case" (*id.*, subd. (b)). Similarly, section 1050 is "directory only and does not mandate dismissal of an action by its terms." (§ 1050, subd. (*l*).)

Unlike section 1050 (which is expressly directory) and section 1050.5 (which prohibits dismissal), section 1382, governing the time of trial, does authorize dismissal. It provides that "unless good cause is shown," a court shall dismiss a criminal case when the defendant is not brought to trial within 60 days of arraignment on a felony case, within 45 days of arraignment on a misdemeanor case where the defendant is out of custody, or within 30 days of arraignment on a misdemeanor case when the defendant is in custody. (§ 1382, subd. (a)(2), (3).) Whenever a case is set for trial beyond the 60-, 45-, or 30-day time period "by request or consent, the defendant shall be brought to trial on the date set for trial or within 10 days thereafter." (§ 1382, subd. (a)(2)(B), (3)(B).)

In addition to the timing-specific power to dismiss in section 1382, section 1385, subdivision (a) provides a broader but still circumscribed power to dismiss. It states, "The judge or magistrate may, either on motion of the court or upon the application of the prosecuting attorney, and in furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed." (§ 1385, subd. (a).)

2. Case law consistently held that dismissal of a criminal case was not a remedy for a violation of section 1050

Decades of case law—beginning with this Court's 1961 *Malengo* opinion—has uniformly held that a trial court may not dismiss a case to remedy a violation of section 1050.

In Malengo v. Municipal Court, supra, 56 Cal.2d at pp. 814-815, the superior court granted, over the defendant's objection, the People's motion for a one-week continuance of a misdemeanor trial. The defendant petitioned for a writ of prohibition. (*Id.* at p. 815.) This Court rejected the defendant's contention that dismissal was required by section 1382 because the continuance request, even if unsupported by good cause, was for a date within 10 days of the last date for trial to which defendant had consented. (*Id.* at pp. 815-816.) This Court also rejected the defendant's contention that a violation of section 1050 required dismissal:

Section 1050 . . . provides: ". . . No continuance of a criminal trial shall be granted except upon affirmative proof in open court, upon reasonable notice, that the ends of justice require a continuance. . . . No continuance shall be granted for any longer time than is affirmatively proved the ends of justice require."

Defendant argues that this provision is mandatory and therefore that since there was an absence of proof in open court that the ends of justice required a continuance, respondent court lost jurisdiction to proceed with the trial of the case.

This contention is devoid of merit, for the reason that section 1050 of the Penal Code, providing for the time for trial of criminal cases, is directory only and contains no provision of the dismissal of a case when its terms are not complied with. (*Id.* at p. 816.)

In *People v. Flores* (1978) 90 Cal.App.3d Supp. 1, 6, the People moved for a seven-day continuance of trial. The requested trial date fell within the 45-day time limit in section 1382. (*Ibid.*) The trial court denied the continuance and dismissed the case. (*Ibid.*) The appellate division held that dismissal was not permitted pursuant to section 1382 because the requested continuance date fell within the 45-day time limit. (*Id.* at p. Supp. 7.) The court also rejected under *Barker v. Wingo* (1972) 407 U.S. 514 the defendant's claim that the one-week continuance violated the defendant's right to a speedy trial. (*Id.* at pp. Supp. 7-8.)

The *Flores* court further rejected the defendant's contention that section 1050 required dismissal:

The applicable language of Penal Code section 1050 . . . was "Continuances shall be granted only upon a showing of good cause." This section is not mandatory, but is directory only and contains no provision for the dismissal of a case when its terms are not complied with. (Malengo v. Municipal Court, *supra.*) "We have previously observed that the provisions of section 1382 . . . are intended to implement a broader policy clearly expressed in the . . . language of Penal Code section 1050 [Citation.]" [Citation.] The strong language of Penal Code section 1382 that an action "shall not be dismissed under this subdivision" when a defendant is brought to trial within some of its time limits, leads us to interpret it to mean that its provisions are controlling over those of Penal Code section 1050 to the extent that an action shall not be dismissed if the defendant is brought to trial within any of its applicable time limits unless the defendant establishes a favorable balance under the ad hoc

balancing test of *Barker v. Wingo*, *supra*, i.e., the federal constitutional standards.

(90 Cal.App.3d at pp. Supp. 8-9, some edit marks added by *Flores*.)

Finally, the *Flores* court held that the dismissal pursuant to section 1385 was an abuse of discretion:

Failure to bring a defendant to trial within the applicable time limits of Penal Code section 1382 requires dismissal of the action unless good cause is shown by the People. No affirmative showing of prejudice to the defendant by the delay is required. [Citation.] "On the other hand, appellate courts have shown considerable opposition to the granting of dismissals under 1385 . . . in instances where the People are thereby prevented from prosecuting defendants for offenses of which there is probable cause to believe they are guilty as charged. Courts have recognized that society, represented by the People, has a legitimate interest in 'the fair prosecution of crimes properly alleged.' [Citation.] "[A] dismissal which arbitrarily cuts those rights without a showing of detriment to the defendant is an abuse of discretion" [Citations]' [citation]." (People v. Orin (1975) 13 Cal.3d 937, 946-947 [120 Cal.Rptr. 65, 533 P.2d 193], italics added.)

(90 Cal.App.3d at p. Supp. 9; see also *People v. Hernandez* (1979) 97 Cal.App.3d 451, 455 ["the Legislature has specifically determined in section 1382 that 10 days is a reasonable time in which to bring to trial a defendant who has consented to a postponement beyond the original 60-day period. A dismissal within the 10-day period would be contrary to legislative policy and thus not in furtherance of justice"]; *People v. Arnold* (1980) 105 Cal.App.3d 456, 459 [same].) In *People v. Rubaum* (1980) 110 Cal.App.3d 930, the prosecutor requested, on the date set for trial, a five-day continuance because the sole witness for the People was on vacation. (*Id.* at p. 932.) The new trial date was within the 45day time limit in section 1382. (*Ibid.*) The superior court "denied the motion to continue, no good cause having been shown as required by section 1050. The judge then dismissed the case for the inability of the prosecutor to proceed, relying on section 1385." (*Id.* at p. 933.)

The appellate court held that the superior court erred in dismissing the case. "Section 1385 requires that the dismissal of an action be 'in furtherance of justice' and that the court set forth its reasons for dismissal in an order entered upon the minutes. The cases of *Hernandez* and *Arnold* have specifically held that a dismissal within the 10-day grace period set forth in section 1382 is against legislative policy and thus *not* in furtherance of justice.... Obviously a continuance date within the specified time limits should not render the case subject to dismissal if a continuance within the 10-day grace period does not do so." (110 Cal.App.3d at p. 935.)

The *Rubaum* court also rejected the argument that dismissal was permitted pursuant to section 1050:

[Section 1050] is contained in title 6, part 2, chapter 8, which in turn is entitled "Formation of the Trial Jury and the Calendar of Issues for Trial." The only reference to dismissal of an action is simply a requirement to notify the "Chairman of the Judicial Council" whenever it appears that any court may be required, because of the condition of its calendar, to dismiss an action pursuant to section 1382 of this code. Section 1050 is directory only and does not mandate any dismissal of an action by its terms. (*Malengo v. Municipal Court, supra*, 56 Cal.2d 813, 815-816.) [¶] By contrast sections 1382 and 1385 appear in title 10, part 2, chapter 8, entitled "Dismissal of the Action for Want of Prosecution or Otherwise."

(110 Cal.App.3d at p. 935.)

In People v. Ferguson (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d 1173, the trial court denied the People's same-day request to continue a jury trial to the afternoon to accommodate the prosecutor's morning appearance in another courtroom. (Id. at p. 1177.) The trial court dismissed the case pursuant to section 1385 because the prosecution was unable to proceed in the absence of the assigned prosecutor. (Id. at p. 1178.) The appellate court held that the trial court abused its discretion in dismissing the case even though the People had not complied with the notice and good cause requirements of section 1050 when requesting the continuance. "Section 1050 governs continuances and is based on the premise that criminal proceedings shall be set for trial and heard and determined at the earliest possible time." (Id. at p. 1181.) Section 1050 "is directory only and does not mandate any dismissal of an action by its terms."" (Ibid.) The court further held that a dismissal pursuant to section 1385, where dismissal was not otherwise required by the speedy trial provisions of section 1382, was an abuse of discretion. (*Ibid.*)

3. The Legislature codified the rule that dismissal is not an authorized remedy for a violation of section 1050

In 2003, Assembly Bill No. 1273 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) amended section 1050 to add subdivision (*l*), which provides: "This section is directory only and does not mandate dismissal of an action by its terms." The bill also amended subdivision (b) of section 1050.5 by adding the italicized limitation: "The authority to impose sanctions provided for by this section shall be in addition to any other authority or power available to the court, *except that the court or magistrate shall not dismiss the case.*" (Italics added.)

The purpose of the bill was "to codify existing case law which provides that the courts may not dismiss a case due to a failure to meet the good cause requirements for a continuance, before the expiration of the 60-day statutory limit." (Sen. Com. on Pub. Saf., Analysis of Assembly Bill No. 1273 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 1, 2003, p. 2.) As explained in the bill analysis:

Penal Code section 1050 allows for the continuance of a criminal proceeding upon a showing of good cause. According to the sponsor, courts have apparently dismissed cases after the prosecutor failed to establish good cause to continue the trial of the matter even though it was still within the 60-day statutory speedy trial period. In People v. Ferguson [sic] (1990) 218 Cal.App.3rd 1173, the Court of Appeal stated, "Section 1050 governs continuances and is based on the premise that criminal proceedings shall be set for trial and heard and determined at the earliest possible time. Section 1050 is directory only and does not mandate any dismissal of an action by its terms." This bill codifies this principle. Thus, under this bill a case could not be dismissed as a sanction for failing to comply with the rules governing continuances if the statutory time for a speedy trial has not run.

(*Id.* at pp. 5-6, italics added.)

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