Supreme Court No. S271877

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

(Sixth Dist. No.
H048462; Santa
Clara County Nos.
AP002184,
C1646865)

APPELLANT’S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

the case is a possible consequence of such a denial.

Second, as developed in Judge Saban’s excellent concur-

rence in the Appellate Division opinion, and expanded upon in

both the Court of Appeal opinion and the discussion in Part B-2

below, even if section 1050 and controlling case law require, as
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pre-Ferrer cases like People v. Ferguson (1990) 218 Cal.App.3d

1173 and Henderson, supra, 115 Cal.App.4th 922 hold, precluding

a trial court from denying a no-good-cause continuance of  trial or

preliminary hearing which will result in dismissal of a case,

Ferrer erred by improperly expanding this rule to the context of a

pretrial motion to suppress under section 1538.5.  Ferrer unwisely

expands the scope of the rule by unjustifiably limiting a trial

court’s ability to control its own calendar and requiring a trial

court to accept the prosecutor’s representation as to whether

dismissal is likely, leading to the potential for the kind of

gamesmanship which the prosecutor in the present case appears

to have engaged in with respect to its assessment of the likelihood

of dismissal.  Moreover, the Ferrer rule unfairly restricts a trial

court’s authority to control its own calendar, and unfairly

disadvantages defendants, as compared to the prosecution, who

are seeking timely settlement of their pending charges.

The Government’s opening brief in this Court contends that

it was the Court of Appeal in the present case, and not prior

opinions which it criticizes, which got it wrong in terms of the

proper interpretation of section 1050 and its legislative history. 

According to respondent, both case law and the 2003 amendments

to section 1050 establish the principle that a no-good-cause

continuance request for a prosecutor cannot be the basis for

dismissal of a case, and Ferrer correctly applied this principle to

motions to suppress.

Respondent’s interpretation of this point is untenable. As

the opinion below carefully explains, nothing in the legislative

10



history of the amendments meaningfully alters a plain language

interpretation of subdivision (l) of section 1050, which simply

holds that dismissal is not mandated by a no-good-cause

continuance request, but in no conceivable sense precludes this as

a possibility except in the single situation specified by the

Legislature in which dismissal is precluded, namely, a no-good-

cause request for continuance of a preliminary hearing within the

statutory 10-day period. (Opin. at 11-18; Brown, supra, 69

Cal.App.5th at pp. 25-32.) 

Finally, respondent’s proposed alteration of the Ferrer

court’s unworkable standard, which directs a trial court to deter-

mine whether it is reasonably foreseeable that the prosecution

will be unable to proceed if a continuance is denied, with a new

rule, requiring granting of a no-good-cause prosecutorial request

for continuance of a section 1538.5 hearing where “the prosecutor

expresses an inability to proceed to trial . . .”, is a solution that is

worse than the problem.  The Ferrer standard, despite its flaws,

discussed in the Court of Appeal opinion. and herein, at least

gives a trial court authority to independently assess, based on the

facts before it, whether a dismissal is really likely or whether, as

in the present case, it is simply a matter of the prosecution not

choosing to go forward with a weaker case without the evidence

sought to be suppressed.

As summarized above and developed below, Ferrer was

wrongly decided and should be disapproved by this Court.  In the

context of a pretrial section 1538.5 motion, nothing in the

language or spirit of section 1050 or any other statutory
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provisions precludes a trial court from denying the kind of last-

minute, no-good-cause continuance request by the prosecution

simply because the upshot of such a denial – an order directing

suppression of evidence as sought by the defense – could likely

lead to the prosecution deciding not to proceed further with the

case.

Statement of the Case

On July 13, 2016, a Notice to Appear was issued to appel-

lant Dajah Brown for a misdemeanor violation of section 653.22,

loitering for the purposes of prostitution. (CT 1)  Arraignment

was waived on December 22, 2016. (CT 15)

On January 19, 2017, appellant, through appointed counsel,

filed a motion to suppress evidence pursuant to section 1538.5,

alleging that the detention and arrest of Ms. Brown violated the

Fourth Amendment, and seeking suppression of the fruits of this

unlawful seizure. (CT 16-20)  The Government filed an opposition

on February 9, 2018, contending that the encounter between

appellant and arresting Officer Yasin was consensual, that, alter-

natively, there was a reasonable suspicion of criminality

sufficient to justify a detention, and that there was probable

cause for an arrest. (CT 21-29)

At an initial hearing of February 17, 2017, the arresting

officer failed to appear.  The prosecution’s oral motion to continue

the motion was denied, and the court granted the motion to

suppress. (CT 31)  Thereafter, on March 2, 2017, the prosecution

filed a motion to reconsider the ruling granting the suppression

motion, citing, inter alia, People v. Ferrer, supra, 184 Cal.App.4th

12



873, for the proposition that a trial court cannot refuse to grant a

continuance of a section 1538.5 motion to the prosecution where

the result of such refusal is tantamount to a dismissal of charges,

even when there is no showing of good cause for the continuance.

(CT 32-44)

On March 17, 2017, the trial court, by the Honorable Jesus

Valencia, Jr., granted the motion for reconsideration.  The court

then heard evidence from Officer Yasin and from appellant Dajah

Brown, after which it issued an order denying the motion to

suppress. (CT 57) 

On March 20, 2017 appellant entered a “slow plea” or

“Bunnell submission” to the charged offense.3  Prior to the

submission, the court provided an indicated disposition of the

case: three years of probation, with no custody time, and a stay

away order from the location where the incident took place. 

Following the submission, the court found the defendant guilty of

the charge of loitering with intent to engage in an act of prostitu-

tion. (CT 58; 2RT 302-306)  The court then imposed judgment as

it had indicated. (CT 58; 2RT 306-308)

Following a timely notice of appeal, the appellate division,

applying Ferrer, affirmed the judgment. (App. Div. Opn. 5) 

However, a concurring opinion authored by Judge Saban

3.  “A Bunnell submission, or ‘slow plea,’ is a bargained-for
submission to the court on the preliminary hearing transcript [or,
here, on police reports], unaccompanied by defendant’s testimony
or argument of counsel.” (People v. McCoy (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th
1578, 1581, fn. 2, citing, e.g., Bunnell v. Superior Court (1975) 13
Cal.3d 592 and People v. Wright (1987) 43 Cal.3d 487, 495.)
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explained her reasons for disagreeing with the holding in Ferrer,

urging the Court of Appeal to reconsider and disagree with the

holding in that case. (See App. Div. Opn., sep. conc. opn of Saban,

J., passim.) 

The Court of Appeal granted appellant’s petition to transfer

the case. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.1006.)  In a unanimous pub-

lished opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed, expressly rejecting

the holding in Ferrer.  The opinion below specifically disagreed

with that court’s “construction of sections 1050 and 1050.5,”

holding to the contrary that “if the trial court finds that the

request for a continuance of a motion to suppress lacks good

cause, the court has the authority to deny the requested contin-

uance for lack of good cause under section 1050, subdivision (e),

even if this decision may foreseeably result in a dismissal of the

matter for lack of evidence.” (Opn. at 20; Brown, supra, at p. 32.) 

Based on the parties’ agreement that the admission of the

challenged evidence at the Bunnell trial was not harmless beyond

a reasonable doubt, the court reversed the judgment, ordered the

trial court to reinstate its orders denying the prosecution’s

request for a continuance and granting the motion to suppress,

and remanded for further proceedings, including possible retrial.

(Oct. 12, 2021, order modifying opn.)

14



Statement of .the Facts4

Prosecution Evidence.

At about 11 p.m. on the night of July 13, 2016, San Jose

Police Officer Nader Yasin was patrolling in a marked police

vehicle in the area of First and Humboldt Street in San Jose,

looking for prostitution activity, which is common in that area.

(1RT 15-16, 18, 21)  Yasin, who was qualified as an expert on

prostitution (1RT 17-18), noticed, from about fifty feet away, that

two females were standing around, about five feet apart, not

interacting with each other; each woman appeared to be looking

up and down the street as if they were monitoring vehicular

traffic, which led Yasin to conclude they were potentially

prostitutes soliciting customers, and not in a social encounter

with each other. (1RT 22-24, 26)  Yasin did not see either woman

hailing cars or persons who were passing by. (1RT 37-38) 

Yasin observed that when the two women noticed his patrol

car, they looked at each other, then walked away in opposite

directions, one to the west, the other to the east. (1RT 25)  Yasin

decided to follow after one of the two women, whom he identified

in court as appellant Dajah Brown.  (1RT 27-28)  Appellant

4.  Except where otherwise noted, the facts are those
adduced at the hearing of the renewed section 1538.5 hearing of
March 17, 2017. (1RT passim)  Although respondent’s brief omits
a summary of the facts, they are included here as they are per-
tinent to an important side-issue in the case, whether the pros-
ecutor was really unable to proceed in the case without the
suppressed evidence, or simply opted to take advantage of the
Ferrer rule, a factor which highlights the unworkability of the
Ferrer standard.
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walked west, then north, then west again, ending up near the

corner of Goodyear and Almaden. (1RT 28-29)  Yasin parked his

patrol car on the northeast corner, got out, and walked slowly

toward appellant, asking her something like, “How’s it going?” or

“Can I talk to you?” (1RT 29-31)  Appellant was friendly and

responsive to Yasin. (1RT 32)  

Appellant’s clothing that night, depicted in People’s 1, a

photograph of her taken by Yasin, consisted of a one-piece black

and white outfit, with her upper chest and thighs exposed; she

was wearing high heels and no socks.  Yasin characterized this

outfit as the kind of typical provocative clothing worn by

prostitutes. (1RT 33-34)

According to the prosecutor’s summary of the facts, Yasin

and appellant “conversed about prostitution.”  Defendant acknow-

ledged being in the area for prostitution purposes, but indicated

she had not had any dates.  Based on his training and experience,

Officer Yasin recognized the term ‘dates’ as meaning a prostitu-

tion engagement.  Officer Yasin then asked Defendant how many

condoms she had in her possession.  Defendant indicated she had

four and produced them to the officer. (CT 22)

In Officer Yasin’s police report, which is included in the

record, he states that he “asked [Suspect Brown] how many

‘dates’ she has had, she replied she had not had any dates.” (CT 6)

It also describes him asking “Suspect Brown how many condoms

she had on her . . .” and Brown replying “that she had four

condoms . . .”; Yasin asked her “to produce them, which she did . .

.”, placing them “on my patrol car’s hood” at Yasin’s “request.”  He

16



then read her the Miranda rights, and she admitted loitering for

prostitution, after which he issued appellant a citation and

released her. (CT 7)

“Based on his training, experience, and observations, Office

Yasin believed Defendant was loitering in the area for prostitu-

tion and issued her a citation.” (CT 22)5

ARGUMENT

A Trial Court Has Discretion Under Section 1050 to Deny a
Prosecutor’s No-Good-Cause Request to Continue the
Hearing of a Section 1538.5 Motion Even When Such
Denial Could Result in the Prosecutor Deciding to Dismiss
the Underlying Criminal Charge.  Ferrer, Which Precluded
Such a Denial, Should be Disapproved.

A. Procedural Background.

1. The Scheduled Hearing, Denial of the Oral
Continuance Motion, and Initial Order
Granting the Motion to Suppress.

On January 19, 2017, counsel for appellant noticed a

motion to suppress evidence under section 1538.5, which was

calendared for February 17, 2017 at 1:30 p.m. (CT 16)  The pros-

ecution filed an opposition on February 9, 2017, which indicated

the same date and time for the suppression motion. (CT 21)  No

written request for continuance of said hearing was ever filed by

the Government.

At the time and date scheduled for the hearing, the pros-

ecutor advised the court that it “unfortunately” had to ask for a

5.  Defendant Brown also testified at the hearing. (See RT
42-53.) Her testimony is not summarized here as it is not
pertinent to any issues before this Court.
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continuance because “Officer [Yasin6], who happens to now be in

the . . . gang task force . . . informed me he was the only one who

could interview a percipient witness in a shooting . . . at 1:00.” 

The prosecutor added that he told the officer “it would be okay for

him to do that . . .”, and requested a continuance of the suppres-

sion hearing on behalf of the prosecution. (1Aug RT 4)  Defense

counsel objected that there was no showing of good cause under

section 1050. (1Aug RT 5 )

The court took exception to the prosecutor’s action of taking

it upon himself to tell a subpoenaed witness that he did not need

to attend the hearing, found a lack of good cause, and denied the

request for a continuance. (1Aug RT 5-6)   The court suggested

that the prosecutor attempt to reach the witness and secure his

appearance. (1Aug RT 6)  

Following a recess, the prosecutor, without stating whether

he had been able to contact the officer, stated, “I don’t think this

is a day where the officer will be returning to court . . .”, and

again sought to have the court make a finding of good cause,

which was opposed by defense counsel. (1Aug RT  6-8)  The court

then reiterated its ruling that there was no good cause. “If we

allow any party to excuse witnesses or other necessary parties to

the proceeding, . . . it is not a workable alternative.  I don’t see

good cause.” The court opined that the police could have found

other ways to interview the witness, concluding, “I am not

satisfied, or I don’t believe whatever it is that the officer is doing

6.  The name is misspelled in the record as “Uscene” (1Aug
RT 4).
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is so indispensable that it requires his absence from these

proceedings.” (1Aug RT 8-9)

The prosecutor then advised the court that “the People are

unable to proceed at this time.” (1Aug RT 9)  Initially, the court

responded by indicating that “the matter is dismissed.” (1Aug RT

9-10) After further discussion between the court and counsel, it

was agreed that the order granting the motion to suppress meant

that all statements made by appellant Brown, both before and

after the Miranda advisements, were to be suppressed. (1Aug RT

10-12)  The prosecutor then suggested there was a possibility the

Government could proceed with its case without the suppressed

evidence, advising the court that “a lot of the evidence from this

case was obtained by . . . observation from the police officer before

any contact with the defendant . . .”, and asked the court to set a

trial date so that the prosecution could consider whether it was

able to proceed. (1Aug RT 12)  The court then set the matter for a

readiness hearing on March 2, 2017, and for a trial on March 6,

2019. (1Aug RT 12-13)

2. The Prosecution’s Reconsideration Motion and
the Court’s Ruling.

On March 2, 2017, the prosecution filed a motion to

reconsider the rulings on the continuance request and the sup-

pression motion, stating, for the first time, that the Government

is “unable to proceed with this case.” (CT 34)  The prosecution

based its motion on the authority of People v. Ferrer, supra, 184

Cal.App.4th 873, contending that under that case, the court was

prohibited from denying a continuance, even with no showing of
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good cause, where the likely result of such a denial was the

dismissal of a criminal charge. (CT 34-43)

At the readiness hearing of the same date, the court

advised counsel that it believed it was bound by Ferrer, issued a

tentative ruling granting reconsideration of its order suppressing

evidence, and set the case for a motion to suppress hearing on

March 17, 2017, while allowing defense counsel to file opposition

papers with respect to the reconsideration motion. (2Aug RT 303-

305, 308)

Thereafter, defense counsel filed an opposition to the

reconsideration motion, arguing that the court lacked jurisdiction

to reconsider an order granting suppression of evidence under

section 1538.5 except in narrow  circumstances which were not

present in this case. (CT 46-49)  At the hearing of the motion on

March 17, 2017, following argument of counsel, the court held it

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